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Comment: T 
There is nothing whatever unusual about the Reaction Force teams described 
below.  What is shocking is that the reporter acts all shocked and outraged about 
them.   
 
Why? 
 
Reaction Force teams, sometimes called “Extraction Teams,” are used in one 
form or another in every major prison in the USA, with less protection for 
prisoners and more brutality than at Guantanamo.  And for some odd reason, 
reporters oh so shocked and outraged about Guantanamo are silent about what’s 
done to Americans, mostly African-Americans of course, right here in prisons in 
the USA.   
 
Aside from Prison Legal News, which documents the horrors with regularity, 
guess the others just don’t give a shit.  For prisoners in a whole lot of hell holes in 
the USA, a transfer to Guantanamo would be a huge step towards better 
treatment, infinitely better food and medical care, and less brutality at the hands 
of Reaction Force teams and U.S. prison personnel generally. 
 
You can bet your ass that after a prison Reaction Force in the USA goes in a cell 
and beats the shit out of this or that prisoner, there isn’t some nurse standing 
there asking “How do you feel?” like at Guantanamo. 
 

********************************* 
 
May 15, 2009 By Jeremy Scahill, AlterNet [Excerpts]  Jeremy Scahill, an independent 
journalist who reports frequently for the national radio and TV program Democracy Now, 
has spent extensive time reporting from Iraq and Yugoslavia. Scahill is the author of 
Blackwater: The Rise of the World’s Most Powerful Mercenary Army.  His writing and 
reporting is available at Rebel Reports. 
 

********************************** 
 
The ‘Black Shirts’ of Guantanamo routinely terrorize prisoners, breaking bones, 
gouging eyes, squeezing testicles, and ‘dousing’ them with chemicals. 
 
As the Obama administration continues to fight the release of some 2,000 photos that 
graphically document U.S. military abuse of prisoners in Iraq and Afghanistan, an 
ongoing Spanish investigation is adding harrowing details to the ever-emerging portrait 
of the torture inside and outside Guantánamo.  
 
Among them: "blows to testicles;" "detention underground in total darkness for three 
weeks with deprivation of food and sleep;" being "inoculated … through injection with ‘a 
disease for dog cysts;’" the smearing of feces on prisoners; and waterboarding.  
 
The torture, according to the Spanish investigation, all occurred "under the authority of 
American military personnel" and was sometimes conducted in the presence of medical 
professionals. 
 



More significantly, however, the investigation could for the first time place an intense 
focus on a notorious, but seldom discussed, thug squad deployed by the U.S. military to 
retaliate with excessive violence to the slightest resistance by prisoners at Guantánamo. 
 
The force is officially known as the Immediate Reaction Force or Emergency Reaction 
Force, but inside the walls of Guantánamo, it is known to the prisoners as the Extreme 
Repression Force.  
 
Despite President Barack Obama’s publicized pledge to close the prison camp and end 
torture -- and analysis from human rights lawyers who call these forces’ actions illegal -- 
IRFs remain very much active at Guantánamo. 
 
 

IRF: An Extrajudicial Terror Squad 
 
The existence of these forces has been documented since the early days of 
Guantánamo, but it has rarely been mentioned in the U.S. media or in congressional 
inquiries into torture.  
 
On paper, IRF teams are made up of five military police officers who are on constant 
stand-by to respond to emergencies.  
 
"The IRF team is intended to be used primarily as a forced-extraction team, specializing 
in the extraction of a detainee who is combative, resistive, or if the possibility of a 
weapon is in the cell at the time of the extraction," according to a declassified copy of the 
Standard Operating Procedures for Camp Delta at Guantánamo.  
 
When an IRF team is called in, its members are dressed in full riot gear, which some 
prisoners and their attorneys have compared to "Darth Vader" suits.  Each officer is 
assigned a body part of the prisoner to restrain: head, right arm, left arm, left leg, right 
leg.  
 
According to the SOP memo, the teams are to give verbal warnings to prisoners before 
storming the cell: "Prior to the use of the IRF team, an interpreter will be used to tell the 
detainee of the discipline measures to be taken against him and ask whether he intends 
to resist.  Regardless of his answer, his recent behavior and demeanor should be taken 
into account in determining the validity of his answer."  The IRF team is authorized to 
spray the detainee in the face with mace twice before entering the cell. 
 
But human rights lawyers, former prisoners and former IRF team members with 
extensive experience at Guantánamo paint a very different picture of the role these 
teams played.  
 
While much of the "torture debate" has emphasized the so-called "enhanced 
interrogation techniques" defined by the twisted legal framework of the Office of 
Legal Council memos, IRF teams in effect operate at Guantánamo as an 
extrajudicial terror squad that has regularly brutalized prisoners outside of the 
interrogation room, gang beating them, forcing their heads into toilets, breaking 
bones, gouging their eyes, squeezing their testicles, urinating on a prisoner’s 



head, banging their heads on concrete floors and hog-tying them -- sometimes 
leaving prisoners tied in excruciating positions for hours on end. 
 
The IRF teams "were fully approved at the highest levels (of the Bush administration), 
including the Secretary of Defense and with outside consultation of the Justice 
Department," says Scott Horton, one of the leading experts on U.S. Military and 
Constitutional law.  This force "was designed to disabuse the prisoners of any idea that 
they would be free from physical assault while in U.S. custody," he says. "They were 
trained to brutally punish prisoners in a brief period of time, and ridiculous pretexts were 
taken to justify" the beatings. 
 
So notorious are these teams that a new lexicon was created and used by prisoners and 
guards alike to describe the beatings: IRF-ing prisoners or to be IRF-ed. 
 
Former Guantánamo Army Chaplain James Yee, who witnessed IRFings, described "the 
seemingly harmless behaviors that brought it on (like) not responding when a guard 
spoke."  
 
Yee said he believed that during daily cell sweeps, guards would intentionally do 
invasive searches of the Muslim prisoners’ "private areas" and Korans to "rile the 
detainees," saying it "seemed like harassment for the sake of harassment, and the 
prisoners fought it.  
 
Those who did were always IRFed." 
 
 

The IRF-ing Of Omar Deghayes 
 
Perhaps the worst abuses in the Spanish case involve Omar Deghayes, whose torture 
began long before he reached Guantánamo, and intensified upon his arrival. 
 
A Libyan citizen who had lived in Britain since 1986, in the late 1990s, Deghayes was a 
law student when he traveled to Afghanistan, "for the simple reason that he is a Muslim 
and he wanted to see what it was like," according to his lawyer, Stafford Smith.  While 
there, he met and married an Afghan woman with whom he had a son. 
 
After 9/11, Deghayes was detained in Lahore, Pakistan, for a month, where he allegedly 
was subjected to "systematic beatings" and "electric shocks done with a tool that looked 
like a small gun." 
 
He was then transferred to Islamabad, Pakistan, where he claims he was interrogated by 
both U.S. and British personnel.  There, the torture continued; in a March 2005 memo 
written by a lawyer who later visited Deghayes at Guantánamo, he described a 
particularly ghoulish incident: 
 
"One day they took me to a room that had very large snakes in glass boxes.  The room 
was all painted black-and-white, with dim lights.  They threatened to leave me there and 
let the snakes out with me in the room.  This really got to me, as there were such sick 
people that they must have had this room specially made." 
 



Deghayes was eventually moved to Bagram Air Base in Afghanistan, where he was 
beaten and "kept nude, as part of the process of humiliation due to his religion." U.S. 
personnel placed Deghayes "inside a closed box with a lock and limited air." He also 
described seeing U.S. guards sodomize an African prisoner and alleged guards "forced 
petrol and benzene up the anuses of the prisoners." 
 
When Deghayes finally arrived at Guantánamo in September 2002, he found himself the 
target of the feared IRF teams. 
 
"The IRF team sprayed Mr. Deghayes with mace; they threw him in the air and let him 
fall on his face …" according to the Spanish investigation.  Deghayes says he also 
endured a "sexual attack."  In March 2004, after being "sprayed in the eyes with mace," 
Deghayes says authorities refused to provide him with medical attention, causing him to 
permanently lose sight in his right eye.  
 
Stafford Smith described the incident: 
 
"They brought their pepper spray and held him down. They held both of his eyes open 
and sprayed it into his eyes and later took a towel soaked in pepper spray and rubbed it 
in his eyes. 
 
"Omar could not see from either eye for two weeks, but he gradually got sight back in 
one eye. 
 
"He’s totally blind in the right eye. I can report that his right eye is all white and milky -- 
he can’t see out of it because he has been blinded by the U.S. in Guantánamo." 
 
In fact, Stafford Smith says his blindness was caused by a combination of the pepper 
spray and the fact that an IRF team member pushed his finger into Deghayes’ eye. 
 
The Spanish investigation into Deghayes’ torture draws much from the March 2005 
memo, which described several acts of abuse of Deghayes at the hands of the IRF 
teams. (The memo refers to IRF by its alternative acronym ERF): 
 
“ERF-ing Omar -- The Feces Incident 
On one of the ERF-ing incidents where Omar was abused, the officer in charge himself 
came into the cell with the feces of another prisoner and smeared it onto Omar’s face. 
While some prisoners had thrown feces at the abusive guards, Omar had always 
emphatically refused to sink to this level. The experience was one of the most disgusting 
in Omar’s life. 
 
“ERF-ing Omar -- The Toilet Incident 
In April or May 2004, when the Guantánamo administration insisted on taking Omar’s 
English-language Quran, he objected. The ERF team came into Omar’s cell and put him 
in shackles.  He was not resisting.  They then put his head in the toilet, pressed his face 
into the water.  They repeatedly flushed it. 
 
“ERF-ing Omar -- The Beating 
In one ERF-ing incident, Omar was shackled by three American soldiers in their black 
Darth Vader Star Wars uniforms. The first was going to punch Omar, but before he 
could, the second kneed Omar in the nose, trying to break it. The third queried this, and 



the second said, "If his nose is broken, that’s good. We want to break his ******* nose." 
The third soldier then took him to hospital. 
 
“ERF-ing Omar -- The Drowning 
The ERF team came into the cell with a water hose under very high pressure. He was 
totally shackled, and they would hold his head fixed still. They would force water up his 
nose until he was suffocating and would scream for them to stop. This was done with 
medical staff present, and they would join in. Omar is particularly affected by the fact that 
there was one nurse who "had been very beautiful and kind" to him to took part in the 
process.  This happened three times. 
 
“ERF-ing Omar -- Tango Block 
Omar was out on the Tango block rec yard when 15 ERF soldiers came, with two other 
soldiers in the towers, armed with guns. They grabbed him (and others) and sprayed 
him. 
 
“They then pulled him up into the air and slammed his face down, on the left side, on the 
concrete.  They had someone from the hospital there, and she just watched.  She then 
came up to him and asked whether he was OK.  He was taken off to isolation after that. 
 
A medical examination cited in the Spanish investigation confirmed that Deghayes 
suffered from blindness of the right eye, fracture of the nasal bone and fracture of the 
right index finger, as well as post-traumatic stress disorder and "profound" depression.” 
 
Neeley recently gave testimony to the University of California, Davis’ Guantánamo 
Testimonials Project. He also described one IRF-ing where the video of the incident was 
destroyed. 
 
Regarding the videos, Stafford Smith says, "There are some things I can’t talk about, but 
I will confirm there is photographic evidence.  I am absolutely confident that if all of the 
photographs were revealed to the world, they would provide irrefutable physical 
evidence that the prisoners had been" abused by the IRFs. 
 
As for the "sworn statements" by IRF team members, a review of hundreds of pages of 
declassified incident reports reveals an almost robotic uniformity in the handwritten 
accounts, overwhelmingly composed of succinct portrayals of operations that went off 
without a hitch.  Almost all of them contain the phrases "minimum amount of force 
necessary" and the prisoner "received medical attention and evaluation" before being 
returned. 
 
"All internal investigations of Gitmo so far have completely whitewashed the IRF 
process," says Horton.  "They did so for obvious reasons." 
 
"The IRF program was supported by advice secured from the Justice Department 
suggesting that insubordinate behavior could be cited to justify a departure from 
guidelines against physical force.  It has a conspiratorial odor to it," says Horton. "In fact 
the use of IRFs was illegal, a violation of Common Article 3 (of the Geneva Convention) 
and a violation of the Uniform Code of Military Justice, which forbids the use of 
unnecessary force against prisoners." 
 



While Spain will probably pursue the role the IRF teams played in the torture of its 
citizens or residents, its scope goes far beyond those specific incidents. 
 
"I have seen detainees IRF’ed while they were praying, or for refusing medication." 
 
Deghayes’ treatment at the hands of the feared IRF teams mirrors that of several other 
released Guantánamo prisoners. 
 
David Hicks, an Australian citizen held at Guantánamo, said in a sworn affidavit, "I have 
witnessed the activities of the (IRF), which consists of a squad of soldiers that enter a 
detainee’s cell and brutalize him with the aid of an attack dog ... I have seen detainees 
suffer serious injuries as a result of being IRF’ed.  I have seen detainees IRF’ed while 
they were praying, or for refusing medication." 
 
Binyam Mohamed, released in February, has also described an IRF assault: "They 
nearly broke my back.  The guy on top was twisting me one way, the guys on my legs 
the other.  They marched me out of the cell to the fingerprint room, still cuffed. I clenched 
my fists behind me so they couldn’t take prints, so they tried to take them by force. The 
guy at my head sticks his fingers up my nose and wrenches my head back, jerking it 
around by the nostrils. Then he put his fingers in my eyes.  It felt as if he was trying to 
gouge them out.  Another guy was punching my ribs, and another was squeezing my 
testicles.  Finally, I couldn’t take it any more.  I let them take the prints." 
 
A report prepared by British human rights lawyer Gareth Peirce, documents the alleged 
abuse of a Bahraini citizen, Jumah al Dousari by an IRF team.  Before being taken to 
Guantánamo, al Dousari was widely known to be "mentally ill."  On one occasion, the 
IRF Team was called into his cell after al Dousari allegedly insulted a female soldier. 
Another prisoner who witnessed the incident described what happened: 
 
"There were usually five people on an ERF team. On this occasion there were eight of 
them.  When Jumah saw them coming, he realized something was wrong and was lying 
on the floor with his head in his hands.  If you’re on the floor with your hands on your 
head, then you would hope that all they would do would be to come in and put the 
chains on you.  That is what they’re supposed to do. 
 
"The first man is meant to go in with a shield. On this occasion, the man with the shield 
threw the shield away, took his helmet off, when the door was unlocked ran in and did a 
knee drop onto Jumah’s back just between his shoulder blades with his full weight. He 
must have been about 240 pounds in weight.   
 
“His name was Smith. He was a sergeant E-5.  Once he had done that, the others came 
in and were punching and kicking Jumah.  While they were doing that the female officer 
then came in and was kicking his stomach.  Jumah had had an operation and had metal 
rods in his stomach clamped together in the operation. 
 
"The officer Smith was the MP sergeant who was punching him. He grabbed his head 
with one hand and with the other hand punched him repeatedly in the face. His nose 
was broken. He pushed his face, and he smashed it into the concrete floor. All of this 
should be on video. There was blood everywhere.  When they took him out, they hosed 
the cell down and the water ran red with blood.  We all saw it." 
 



 
Force Feeding as a Form of Torture 

 
The IRF teams were also used to force-feed hunger-striking prisoners at Guantánamo, 
including in August 2005.  Deghayes was among the hunger strikers, writing in a letter, "I 
am slowly dying in this solitary prison cell, I have no rights, no hope. So why not take my 
destiny into my own hands, and die for a principle?" 
 
While the U.S. government portrayed a situation where the hunger strikers were being 
given medical attention, lawyers for some of the men claim that the tubes used to force 
feed them were "the thickness of a finger" and "were viewed by the detainees as objects 
of torture." 
 
According to attorney Julia Tarver, one of her clients, Yousef al-Shehri, had a tube 
inserted with "one (IRF member) holding his chin while the other held him back by his 
hair, and a medical staff member forcibly inserted the tube in his nose and down his 
throat" and into his stomach.  "No anesthesia or sedative was provided to alleviate the 
obvious trauma of the procedure." Tarver said this method caused al-Shehri and others 
to vomit "substantial amounts of blood." 
 
This was painful enough, but al-Shehri, described the removal of the tubes as 
"unbearable," causing him to pass out from the pain. 
 
According to Tarver, "Nasal gastric (NG) tubes (were removed) by placing a foot on one 
end of the tube and yanking the detainee’s head back by his hair, causing the tube to be 
painfully ejected from the detainee’s nose.  
 
“Then, in front of the Guantanamo physicians … the guards took NG tubes from one 
detainee, and with no sanitization whatsoever, reinserted it into the nose of a different 
detainee. When these tubes were reinserted, the detainees could see the blood and 
stomach bile from the other detainees remaining on the tubes." Medical staff, according 
to Tarver, made no effort to intervene. This was one of many incidents where IRF teams 
facilitated such force-feeding. 
 
Aside from hunger strikes, other forms of resistance were met with brutal reprisal.  Tarek 
Dergoul, a prisoner interviewed by Human Rights Watch, described how IRF teams beat 
him because he "often refused to cooperate with cell searches during prayer time. One 
reason was that they would abuse the Quran. Another was that the guards deliberately 
felt up my private parts under the guise of searching me." 
 
Dergoul said, "If I refused a cell search, MPs would call the Extreme Reaction Force, 
who came in riot gear with plastic shields and pepper spray. The Extreme Reaction 
Force entered the cell, ran in and pinned me down after spraying me with pepper spray 
and attacked me.  The pepper spray caused me to vomit on several occasions. They 
poked their fingers in my eyes, banged my head on the floor and kicked and punched 
me and tied me up like a beast.  They often forced my head into the toilet." 
 
Jamal al-Harith claims he was beaten by a five-man IRF team for refusing an injection: "I 
was terrified of what they were going to do.  I had seen victims of (IRF) being paraded in 
front of my cell. They were battered and bruised into submission. It was a horrible sight 



and a frequent sight. … They were really gung-ho, hyped up and aggressive. One of 
them attacked me really hard and left me with a deep red mark from my backbone down 
to my knee. I thought I was bleeding, but it was just really bad bruising." 
 

The IRF-Ing Of Army Sgt. 1st Class Sean Baker 
 
Ironically, perhaps the most well-publicized case of abuse by this force was not inflicted 
on a Guantanamo prisoner, but on an active-duty U.S. soldier and Gulf War veteran. 
 
In January 2003, Sgt. Sean Baker was ordered to participate in an IRF training drill at 
Guantánamo where he would play the role of an uncooperative prisoner.  Sgt. Baker 
says he was ordered by his superior to take off his military uniform and put on an orange 
jumpsuit like those worn by prisoners.  He was told to yell out the code word "red" if the 
situation became unbearable, or he wanted his fellow soldiers to stop. 
 
According to sworn statements, upon entering his cell, IRF members thought they were 
restraining an actual prisoner.  As Sgt. Baker later described: 
 
“They grabbed my arms, my legs, twisted me up and, unfortunately, one of the 
individuals got up on my back from behind and put pressure down on me while I was 
face down.  Then he -- the same individual -- reached around and began to choke me 
and press my head down against the steel floor. After several seconds, 20 to 30 
seconds, it seemed like an eternity because I couldn’t breathe. When I couldn’t breathe, 
I began to panic and I gave the code word I was supposed to give to stop the exercise, 
which was ‘red.’ … That individual slammed my head against the floor and continued to 
choke me.  Somehow I got enough air. I muttered out: ‘I’m a U.S. soldier. I’m a U.S. 
soldier.’” 
 
Sgt. Baker said his head was slammed once more, and after groaning "I’m a U.S. 
soldier" one more time, "I heard them say, ‘Whoa, whoa, whoa,’ you know, like … he 
was telling the other guy to stop." 
 
According to CBS: 
 
“Bloodied and disoriented, Baker somehow made it back to his unit, and his first thought 
was to get hold of the videotape.  
 
"I said, ‘Go get the tape,’ " recalls Baker. " ‘They’ve got a tape. Go get the tape.’ My 
squad leader went to get the tape." 
 
“Every extraction drill at Guantanamo was routinely videotaped, and the tape of this drill 
would show what happened.  But Baker says his squad leader came back and said, 
"There is no tape." 
 
The New York Times later reported that the military "says it can’t find a videotape that is 
believed to have been made of the incident."  Baker was soon diagnosed with traumatic 
brain injury.  He began suffering seizures, sometimes 10 to 12 per day. 
 



"This was just one typical incident, and Baker was recognizable as an American," says 
Horton. "But it gives a good flavor of what the Gitmo detainees went through, which was 
generally worse." 
 
 

IRF-Ing Continues Under Obama 
 
On Jan. 7, 2009, a prisoner named Yasin Ismael threw a shoe in frustration at the inside 
of a cage to which he had been confined.  The guards accused Ismael of attacking them 
and called in an IRF team. 
 
According to his attorneys, "The team shackled him, and he put up no resistance. They 
then beat him.  They blocked his nose and mouth until he felt that he would suffocate 
and hit him repeatedly in the ribs and head.  They then took him back to his cell. As he 
was being taken back, a guard urinated on his head.  Mr. Ismael was badly injured, and 
his ear started to bleed, leaving a large stain on his pillow." 
 
Less than two weeks later, on Jan. 22, newly inaugurated President Obama issued an 
executive order requiring the closure of Guantánamo within a year and also ordered a 
review of the status of the prisoners held there, requiring "humane standards of 
confinement" in accordance with the Geneva Conventions. 
 
But one month later, the Center for Constitutional Rights released a report titled 
"Conditions of Confinement at Guantánamo: Still In Violation of the Law," which found 
that abuses continued.  
 
In fact, one Guantanamo lawyer, Ahmed Ghappour, said that his clients were 
reporting "a ramping up in abuse" since Obama was elected, including "beatings, 
the dislocation of limbs, spraying of pepper spray into closed cells, applying 
pepper spray to toilet paper and over-force feeding detainees who are on hunger 
strike," according to Reuters. 
 
"Certainly in my experience there have been many, many more reported incidents of 
abuse since the inauguration," Ghappour said. 
 
While the dominant media coverage of the U.S. torture apparatus has portrayed these 
tactics as part of a "Bush era" system that Obama has now ended, when it comes to the 
IRF teams, that is simply not true.  
 
"(D)etainees live in constant fear of physical violence. Frequent attacks by IRF 
teams heighten this anxiety and reinforce that violence can be inflicted by the 
guards at any moment for any perceived infraction, or sometimes without 
provocation or explanation," according to CCR. 
 
In early February 2009, at least 16 men were on hunger strike at Guantanamo’s Camp 6 
and refused to leave their cells for "force feeding."  IRF teams violently extracted them 
from their cells with the "men being dragged, beaten and stepped on, and their arms and 
fingers twisted painfully." Tubes were then forced down their noses, which one prisoner 
described as "torture, torture, torture." 
 



In April, Mohammad al-Qurani, a 21-year-old Guantánamo prisoner from Chad managed 
to call Al-Jazeera and described a recent beating: "This treatment started about 20 days 
before Obama came into power, and since then I’ve been subjected to it almost every 
day," he said. "Since Obama took charge, he has not shown us that anything will 
change." 
 
Al-Jazeera reported: 
 
“Describing a specific incident, which took place after change in the U.S. administration, 
al-Qurani said he had refused to leave his cell because they were ‘not granting me my 
rights,’ such as being able to walk around, interact with other inmates and have ‘normal 
food.’ 
 
“A group of six soldiers wearing protective gear and helmets entered his cell, 
accompanied by one soldier carrying a camera and one with tear gas, he said. 
 
“‘They had a thick rubber or plastic baton they beat me with.  They emptied out about 
two canisters of tear gas on me,’ he told Al-Jazeera. 
 
“‘After I stopped talking, and tears were flowing from my eyes, I could hardly see or 
breathe. 
 
“‘They then beat me again to the ground, one of them held my head and beat it against 
the ground. I started screaming to his senior ‘see what he’s doing, see what he’s doing’ 
his senior started laughing and said ‘he’s doing his job.’" 
 
In another incident after Obama’s inauguration, prisoner Khan Tumani began smearing 
excrement on the walls of his cell to protest his treatment. According to his lawyer, when 
he "did not clean up the excrement, a large IRF team of 10 guards was ordered to his 
cell and beat him severely. The guards sprayed so much tear gas or other noxious 
substance after the beating that it made at least one of the guards vomit. Mr. Khan 
Tumani’s skin was still red and burning from the gas days later." 
 
The CCR has called on the Obama administration to immediately end the use of the IRF 
teams at Guantánamo.  Horton, meanwhile, says "detainees should be entitled to 
compensation for injuries they suffered." 
 
As the abuse continues at Guantánamo, and powerful congressional leaders from both 
parties and the White House fiercely resist the appointment of an independent special 
prosecutor, the sad fact is that the best chance for justice for the victims of U.S. torture 
may well be an ocean away in Madrid, Spain. 
 
"The Obama administration should not need pressure from abroad to uphold our own 
laws and initiate a criminal investigation in the U.S.," says Vince Warren, CCR’s 
executive director. "I hope the Spanish cases will impress on the president and Attorney 
General Eric Holder how seriously the rest of the world takes these crimes and show 
them the issue will not go away." 
 
 
 



IRAQ WAR REPORTS 
 
 

IED Kills U.S. Soldier Near Samawah 
 
June 16, 2009 Multi National Corps Iraq Public Affairs Office, Camp Victory RELEASE 
No. 20090616-03 
 
CONTINGENCY OPERATING BASE ADDER, Iraq – A Multi-National Division–South 
Soldier was killed by an improvised explosive device near the city of Samawah June 16. 
 
 
 

IED Wounds U.S. Soldier In Baghdad; 
 
June 16 (Reuters) 
 
A roadside bomb wounded a U.S. soldier on patrol in northeast Baghdad, a U.S. military 
statement said, adding that one U.S. Humvee vehicle was damaged in the explosion. 
 
 

Resistance Action 
 

June 14 & June 15 (Reuters) & AFP & June 16 (Reuters) 
 
Police said two policemen died and a third was seriously ill after poisoned food was 
given to them by a driver at a checkpoint in Garma, 30 km (20 miles) west of Baghdad. 
 
Police said they found the body of a fellow policeman who was kidnapped two days ago 
in northern Ramadi, 100 km (60 miles) west of Baghdad. 
 
A roadside bomb targeting an Iraqi police patrol wounded one policeman and two 
civilians in Mosul, police said. 
 
Insurgents threw a hand grenade at a police patrol in Mosul, wounding two policemen 
and one civilian, police said. 
 
In an attack near Tarmiyah, a district north of Baghdad, an anti-tank rocket was fired at a 
convoy carrying the leader of a U.S.-allied local militia.  Two bodyguards were killed and 
three were wounded, but the militia chief Sheikh Jassem al-Mashahadani emerged 
unscathed, police lieutenant Sarmed Sami said. 
 
A soldier was killed in the tense northern Iraqi city of Kirkuk when another magnetic 
bomb attached to an Iraqi military vehicle blew up. 
 
A roadside bomb wounded a judge and two of his aides on Monday when it exploded 
near his car in northern Mosul, 390 km (240 miles) north of Baghdad, police said. 



 

IF YOU DON’T LIKE THE RESISTANCE 
END THE OCCUPATIONS 

 
 

AFGHANISTAN WAR REPORTS 
 
 

Canadian Soldier Killed Defusing Bomb 
 
June 14, 2009 CBC News 
 
A Canadian soldier was killed in southern Afghanistan on Sunday when an improvised 
explosive device he was trying to defuse exploded, the military said. 
 
Cpl. Martin Dubé, 35, was a combat engineer from the 5 Combat Engineer Regiment 
based at Canadian Forces Base Valcartier, near Quebec City. 
 
An Afghan police officer was also killed and an Afghan interpreter was seriously injured 
in the explosion, which occurred about 20 kilometres southwest of Kandahar City at 
12:30 p.m. local time, the military said. 
 
It’s the second Canadian death in Afghanistan in a week — Pte. Alexandre Péloquin was 
killed last Monday when he stepped on an explosive device. 
 
The death of Dubé brings to 120 the total number of Canadian soldiers who have died 
during the Afghan mission since it began in 2002. One diplomat and two aid workers 
have also died. 
 
 

Estonian Soldier Killed In Nad Ali 
 
Jun 15 KABUL (AFP) 
 
An Estonian soldier was killed on Monday in an ambush in the Nad Ali area in the 
southern province of Helmand, the defence ministry told reporters in Tallinn. 
 
 

Resistance Action 
 
June 14 (KUNA) & By VOA News & Jun 16 (AFP) 
 
A district police chief was killed in a bomb explosion in southern Afghanistan on Sunday. 
Muhammad Naeem, police chief of Pajwayee district of Kandahar province, was trying to 
defuse a bomb when it went off killing him on the spot and injuring another policeman. 



Police officials said the bomb was planted by Taliban on the roadside to target Afghan 
and foreign troops.  Some locals reported the presence of the bomb and the police team 
went on the spot to defuse it. 
 
Two Afghan soldiers died after their patrol was attacked by rebels in the northeastern 
province of Kunduz on Monday, the defence ministry said in a statement. 
 
In Paktia province, militants attacked Afghan workers who were constructing the Khost-
Gardez road in Shawak district, killing three Afghan security guards at the site. 
 
 

Resistance Attacks Up 59% Over Last 
Year 

 
14 June 2009 (Reuters) 
 
U.S. and NATO military commanders said insurgent attacks soared 59 percent in the 
first five months of 2009 compared with the same period last year to reach the highest 
level since the Taleban’s overthrow in 2001. 
 
The number of attacks, which included suicide strikes, roadside bombings and 
ambushes, was 40 percent higher than the previous week, Afghanistan’s interior minister 
Hanif Atmar told a news conference.  
 
 

Murderous Dumb Fuck U.S. Officer 
Ordered Massacre Of 91 Civilians In 
Azizabad Village Because Local U.S. 
Base Guards From Another Village 

Wanted Them Dead And Tricked Him; 
Now U.S. Commander Engaging In 
Criminal Conspiracy To Protect The 

Base Guards Who Kidnapped, Tortured 
And Murdered Another Azizabad Villager 
 
Jun 14 AP & June 15, 2009 By Ben Farmer in Kabul, Telegraph (UK) 
 
LONDON – A British television report to be broadcast on Monday says American 
forces who killed scores of people last August in Azizabad, western Afghanistan, 



attacked the village on the basis of false allegations inspired by a blood feud with 
a neighboring community. 
 
US soldiers entered the village in the early hours of August 22 last year following 
reports of Taliban sheltering there. They said they called in a heavily armed AC130 
gunship after coming under fire, however villager told the programme US troops 
opened fire without provocation. 
 
Gul Ahmad, a villager, said: "The women and children tried to run away from it. 
They killed everything, everyone, the elderly, anything that moved." 
 
An hour-long, in-depth documentary, previewed by The Associated Press and to be 
broadcast by Channel 4, includes scenes from a Herat provincial court trial in which a 
leader from the rival village was sentenced to death for murder for having given false 
information leading to the deaths of 91 innocent Azizabad civilians. 
 
Despite that court ruling, the U.S. Central Command maintains its position that the 
Americans killed 22 Taliban fighters, along with only 33 civilians. 
 
The British broadcaster will also report that U.S. Special Forces are not 
cooperating with local police seeking three men from Kalask, the rival village, in 
the torture death of an Azizabad man.  
 
The suspects are guards at the U.S. base in nearby Shindand. 
 
The report’s producer-director and narrator, Tom Roberts, says provincial officials 
believe U.S. forces have taken sides in the inter-village feud, which apparently stems 
from competition for Shindand base jobs. 
 
The Azizabad attack badly strained U.S. relations with its Afghan ally, as has a more 
recent U.S. attack, in Farah province on May 4-5, when Afghan officials say 140 villagers 
were killed.  U.S. officials say no more than 30 civilians died, along with 60 to 65 
militants. 
 
After the ground and air assault by U.S. and Afghan forces last Aug. 22 on Azizabad, the 
U.S. military said 30 militants were killed and no civilians. It later acknowledged five 
civilian deaths. Still later, a Central Command investigative report raised the civilian toll 
to 33. 
 
Investigations by the Afghan government and the United Nations, meanwhile, found that 
some 90 civilians were killed. Afghan President Hamid Karzai’s office said no Taliban 
were killed, and the attack was based on "total misinformation" that enemy were present 
in Azizabad. 
 
At the trial in March, a panel of judges found Kalask village’s Mohammed Nader guilty of 
murder, saying he knowingly gave U.S. forces false information about Azizabad. 
Residents had testified to seeing Nader with the raiders that night. His conviction and 
death sentence are on appeal. 
 



Local police appearing in the Channel 4 report also describe an ambush of Azizabad 
men by Kalask residents last December, when an Azizabad man was killed, fellow 
villagers rushed to the rescue, and Shindand base guards also arrived on the scene. 
 
One Azizabad man was then seized and taken away in a convoy of U.S. Special 
Forces and Afghan guards, the police say.  
 
Four hours later, they say, the Americans delivered the man’s body to an Afghan 
army headquarters.  An autopsy found he had been tortured, Channel 4 reports. 
 
Since then, authorities have been unable to get U.S. cooperation in disarming and 
handing over three Afghan guards suspected in the man’s death, the report says. 
 
Asked to comment on these elements of the TV report, spokesman Maj. John H. 
Redfield said the Central Command "stands by" its earlier investigation. Though 
asked specifically about the wanted men, he did not address the issue. 
 
 

BEEN ON THE JOB TOO LONG: 
COME ON HOME, NOW 

 
U.S. soldiers in an MRAP vehicle near Shahin Kalay, Afghanistan.  Photograph: Sean 
Smith, Guardian News and Media Limited.  Thanks to JM, who sent this in.] 
 
 
 

TROOP NEWS 
 
 



“Not So Heavy Metal” 

 
[Thanks to SSG N (ret’d) who sent this in.  She writes: “Believe it or not!  No electronics, 

either.”] 
 
 

Troops Invited: 
Comments, arguments, articles, and letters from service men 
and women, and veterans, are especially welcome.  Write to Box 
126, 2576 Broadway, New York, N.Y. 10025-5657 or send email 
contact@militaryproject.org:  Name, I.D., withheld unless you 
request publication.  Same address to unsubscribe.  Phone: 
917.677.8057 
 
 

U.S. Troops In Iraq Excited To 
Finally Return To Afghanistan 

mailto:contact@militaryproject.org


 
The amber waves of blowing sand and rubble. 

 
[Thanks to Mark Shapiro, The Military Project, who sent this in.] 
 
March 20, 2009 The Onion 
 
BAGHDAD—Members of the U.S. Armed Forces were reportedly overcome with 
feelings of joy, nostalgia, and optimism this week after learning they would soon be 
withdrawn from Iraq and allowed to finally return home to Afghanistan.  
 
"I never thought this day would come," said Cpl. Douglas Robinson, who hasn’t seen the 
barren hills and smoking craters of his beloved Kabul in nearly six years.  "Being away 
from those you left behind, for this long, it definitely starts to take a toll on you." 
 
Added Robinson, "I can’t believe I’m going home again."  
 
In 2003, thousands of American soldiers were unexpectedly uprooted from Afghanistan 
and sent off to fight in a long and bloody war overseas.  After serving multiple tours of 
duty in Iraq, the vast majority of these troops said they couldn’t wait to get back and 
have their lives return to normal. 
 
"It’s going to be great to be surrounded by all those familiar faces again," said Pfc. 
Shawn Brunner, staring wistfully at an old and faded photograph of the bleak wasteland. 
"The tribal sheiks, the frightened villagers, all that wonderful rubble near the Id Gah 
Mosque.  When I’m finally back on Afghan soil, I’ll probably kiss the ground."  
 
Like Brunner, marines stationed at Camp al Qaim in Iraq said they longed for the 
comforts of home, whether it’s stopping off at a local eatery for a hot meal of sabzi 
challow, or spending Sunday afternoon cheering on their favorite buzkashi team. Others 
reportedly yearned for the day when they would be reunited with their children, many of 
whom hadn’t even been born when their fathers left for Iraq. 
 
"I can’t wait to meet my little princess, Badria," Lt. David Shapiro said. "I just hope her 
mother isn’t still angry at me."  
 
According to military officials, the announcement of the long awaited homecoming has 
greatly improved morale, with U.S. soldiers looking forward to returning to the one place 
where they truly felt like they belonged. 



 
"Hopefully we’ll stay put for a while," said Cpl. Michael White, adding that he couldn’t 
wait to hear the familiar strains of neighbors speaking Dari in the streets.  
 
"With any luck we’ll be in Afghanistan for another 10 years." 
 
While most remained enthusiastic about the trip home, a small percentage of military 
personnel expressed concerns that Afghanistan had drastically changed since they were 
called off to war.  Others worried that it would now be awkward to interact with local 
warlords. 
 
"I don’t want people to treat me weird just because I’ve been away for so long," Lt. 
Gerald Karshner said. "I’m sure there will be a period of adjustment.  You know, just 
getting reacquainted with the sounds of slightly less mortar fire, or that special tear gas 
smell that only Afghanistan has. Still, it’ll be great to sleep in my old metal bed again."  
 
The journey back will be bittersweet for some. Pvt. Michael Tagle, 24, said he could still 
remember a more innocent time in his life, when he would drive around all day in a tank 
with friends, several of whom, sadly, are no longer around. 
 
"We had our entire lives ahead of us," said Tagle, who "pretty much grew up" in 
Kandahar.  
 
"Anything was possible. Going to college.  Maybe starting a family someday. Even 
making the world a better place." 
 
Added Tagle, "It’s funny the things you picture for yourself when you’re young." 

 
 

NEED SOME TRUTH? 
CHECK OUT TRAVELING SOLDIER 

 
Telling the truth - about the occupations or the criminals running the government 
in Washington - is the first reason for Traveling Soldier.  But we want to do more 
than tell the truth; we want to report on the resistance to Imperial wars inside the 
armed forces.   
 
Our goal is for Traveling Soldier to become the thread that ties working-class 
people inside the armed services together. We want this newsletter to be a 
weapon to help you organize resistance within the armed forces.   
 
If you like what you've read, we hope that you'll join with us in building a network 
of active duty organizers.  http://www.traveling-soldier.org/    And join with Iraq 
Veterans Against the War to end the occupations and bring all troops home now! 
(www.ivaw.org/) 
 
 

FORWARD OBSERVATIONS 



 
 

 
 
“At a time like this, scorching irony, not convincing argument, is needed.  Oh had 
I the ability, and could reach the nation’s ear, I would, pour out a fiery stream of 
biting ridicule, blasting reproach, withering sarcasm, and stern rebuke. 
 
“For it is not light that is needed, but fire; it is not the gentle shower, but thunder. 
 
“We need the storm, the whirlwind, and the earthquake.” 

 
Frederick Douglass, 1852 
 
 
“Hope for change doesn’t cut it when you’re still losing buddies.” 
-- J.D. Englehart, Iraq Veterans Against The War 
 
 
I say that when troops cannot be counted on to follow orders because they see 
the utility and immorality of them THAT is the real key to ending a war.   
-- Al Jaccoma, Veterans For Peace 
 
 
“While there is a lower class I am in it; while there is a criminal element I 
am of it; while there is a soul in prison, I am not free” 
-- Eugene V. Debs 
 
 



“What country can preserve its liberties if its rulers are not warned from time to 
time that their people preserve the spirit of resistance?  Let them take arms.”  
Thomas Jefferson to William Stephens Smith, 1787. 
 
 
"The mighty are only mighty because we are on our knees.  Let us rise!"   
-- Camille Desmoulins 
 
 
"When someone says my son died fighting for his country, I say, "No, the suicide 
bomber who killed my son died fighting for his country."   
-- Father of American Soldier Chase Beattie, KIA in Iraq 
 
 

June 17, 1838: 
Anniversary On A Most Honorable 
Act By General John Wool Of The 

United States Army 

 
General John Wool [Sonofthesouth.net] 

 
Carl Bunin Peace History June 16-22  
 
The Cherokee Nation began the 1,200-mile forced march known as the Trail of Tears.  
 



Their removal from ancestral land in the southeast U.S. had been ordered by Pres. 
Andrew Jackson as the result of a treaty signed by a small minority of the tribe, and 
approved in the Senate by a one-vote margin.  
 
Ordered to move on the Cherokee, General John Wool resigned his command in 
protest; Gen. Winfield Scott and 7000 troops moved in to enforce the treaty. 
 
"The Trail Where They Cried" ("Nunna daul Tsuny" in the Cherokee language) led from 
northern Georgia to Oklahoma.  
 
Along the way, an estimated 4,000 died from hunger, exposure and disease. 
 

 
 
 

“I Have A Neighbor Who Insists On 
Working On The Sabbath” 

“Am I Morally Obligated To Kill Him 
Myself, Or Should I Ask The Police To Do 

It?” 
 
[Thanks to Ward Reilly, Veterans For Peace, for passing this one along.] 
 
Thank you for doing so much to educate people regarding God’s Law.  I have 
learned a great deal from you and understand why you would be for banning same 
sex marriage. 
 
As you said “in the eyes of God marriage is based between a man a woman.”  I try 
to share that knowledge with as many people as I can.   
 



When someone tries to defend the homosexual lifestyle, for example, I simply 
remind them that Leviticus 18:22 clearly states it to be an abomination...  End of 
debate. 
 
I do need some advice from you, however, regarding some other elements of 
God’s Laws and how to follow them. 
 
1.  Leviticus 25:44 states that I may possess slaves, both male and female, 
provided they are purchased from neighboring nations.  A friend of mine claims 
that this applies to Mexicans, but not Canadians.  Can you clarify?  
 
Why can’t I own Canadians? 
 
2.  I would like to sell my daughter into slavery, as sanctioned in Exodus 21:7.  In 
this day and age, what do you think would be a fair price for her? 
 
3.  I know that I am allowed no contact with a woman while she is in her period of 
menstrual uncleanness - Lev.15: 19-24.  The problem is how do I tell?  I have tried 
asking, but most women take offense. 
 
4.  When I burn a bull on the altar as a sacrifice, I know it creates a pleasing odor 
for the Lord - Lev.1:9.  The problem is, my neighbors.  They claim the odor is not 
pleasing to them.  Should I smite them? 
 
5.  I have a neighbor who insists on working on the Sabbath.  Exodus 35:2. clearly 
states he should be put to death.  Am I morally obligated to kill him myself, or 
should I ask the police to do it? 
 
6.  A friend of mine feels that even though eating shellfish is an abomination - Lev.  
11:10, it is a lesser abomination than homosexuality.  I don’t agree.  Can you settle 
this?  Are there ‘degrees’ of abomination?  Oh, sorry.  IS there degrees ... 
 
7.  Lev.21:20 states that I may not approach the altar of God if I have a defect in 
my sight.  I have to admit that I wear reading glasses.  Does my vision have to be 
20/20, or is there some wiggle-room here? 
 
8.  Most of my male friends get their hair trimmed, including the hair around their 
temples, even though this is expressly forbidden by Lev.19:27.  How should they 
die? 
 
9.  I know from Lev.  11:6-8 that touching the skin of a dead pig makes me 
unclean, but may I still play football if I wear gloves? 
 
10.  My uncle has a farm.  He violates Lev.19:19 by planting two different crops in 
the same field, as does his wife by wearing garments made of two different kinds 
of thread (cotton/polyester blend).  He also tends to curse and blaspheme a lot.  
 
Is it really necessary that we go to all the trouble of getting the whole town 
together to stone them?  Lev.24:10-16.  Couldn’t we just burn them to death at a 
private family affair, like we do with people who sleep with their in-laws? (Lev.  
20:14) 



 
11. And one of my real concerns is that gay lobsterman who wears clothes made 
of two or more fabrics and hauls lobsters on the Sabbath....Four abominations in 
one day....Wow...... 
 
12. And one last question.....Why are Christian bigots so obsessed who people 
love?   I think I know the answer. 
 
I know you have studied these things extensively and thus enjoy considerable 
expertise in such matters, so I am confident you can help.   
 
Thank you again for reminding us that God’s word is eternal and unchanging. 
 
Thanks, 
Bible Readers of America 
 
 

[One Year Ago: GI SPECIAL 6F11: 6.17.08] 
 

Up To His Neck In Blood: 

 
washingtonpost.com 

 

Troops Will Long Remember Who 
Warned That Obama Will Keep The 

Wars Going, And Stressed The 
Importance Of Helping Build And 



Strengthen Armed Forces Resistance 
Now 

 

Troops Will Also Long Remember 
Who Pandered To The Huge, 

Understandable Hope That Electing 
Obama Would Stop The Wars, And 
Who, By Arguing For His Election, 

Participated In The Betrayal 
 

Comment: T 
 
The time, money and effort spent kissing Obama’s ass would be more constructively 
used to do the work that has some hope of stopping the wars in the real world: 
supporting resistance in the armed forces. 
 
However, many desperately avoid that reality, hoping for something better, which is 
understandable.  Reality is not pretty, and it’s hardly surprising that not everyone can 
face it now.   
 
Events will be the most powerful teacher. 
 
People, including troops, will long remember who warned that Obama would keep the 
wars going, and stressed the importance of helping build and strengthen armed forces 
resistance now.   
 
People, including troops, will also long remember who pandered to the huge, 
understandable hope inside and outside the armed forces that electing Obama would 
stop the wars, and who, by arguing for his election, participated in the betrayal, rather 
than telling the truth, however unwelcome and unpopular it may be now. 
 
The overwhelming majority of Americans have decided this war must end.  So 
have the overwhelming majority of the members of the Armed forces.   
 
If the Imperial traitors in DC won’t do it, then, as in Vietnam, the armed forces will 
rebel wholesale, end the war themselves, and, if necessary, arms in hand, have a 
word with the politicians in DC.   
 
Americans will certainly “support our troops” then.  Bring that on.  These Demorat 
traitors leave us no other option.  They’re willing to kill U.S. troops and Iraqis to 
maintain their power and privilege. 



 
They need to be forcefully instructed in what democracy means: the majority 
rules.   
 
One way or another.   
 
The sooner the better.  

 
 

POLITICIANS CAN’T BE COUNTED ON TO HALT 
THE BLOODSHED 

 
THE TROOPS HAVE THE POWER TO STOP THE 

WARS 
 

 

DANGER: POLITICIANS AT WORK 
 
 

 
[Thanks to Mark Shapiro, Military Project, who sent this in.] 

 
 

DO YOU HAVE A FRIEND OR RELATIVE IN THE 
MILITARY? 



Forward GI Special along, or send us the address if you wish and we’ll 
send it regularly.  Whether in Iraq or stuck on a base in the USA, this is 
extra important for your service friend, too often cut off from access to 
encouraging news of growing resistance to the wars, inside the armed 
services and at home.  Send email requests to address up top or write to: 
The Military Project, Box 126, 2576 Broadway, New York, N.Y. 10025-5657.  
Phone: 917.677.8057 
 
 

CLASS WAR REPORTS 
 
 

 
 
 

GI SPECIALS BY MAIL FREE FOR 
ACTIVE DUTY TROOPS 

 
IF YOU WISH TO HAVE A SELECTION OF GI SPECIALS MAILED TO YOU, EMAIL 
YOUR ADDRESS TO: CONTACT@MILITARYPROJECT.ORG OR DROP A LINE TO:  
BOX 126, 2576 BROADWAY, NEW YORK, N.Y. 10025-5657 USA.  917.677.8057 
 
Please say how many you wish sent.   
 
NOTE WELL: They will all be different issues of GI Special to satisfy DOD regs that 
you may possess copies, provided you don’t have more than one of the same 
issue. 
 



 

 
 

OCCUPATION ISN’T LIBERATION 
ALL TROOPS HOME NOW! 

 
GI Special Looks Even Better Printed Out 

GI Special issues are archived at website http://www.militaryproject.org . 
The following have chosen to post issues; there may be others:  
http://williambowles.info/gispecial/2008/index.html; news@uruknet.info; 
http://www.traprockpeace.org/gi_special/ 
 
GI Special distributes and posts to our website copyrighted material the use of which has not always been specifically 
authorized by the copyright owner.  We are making such material available in an effort to advance understanding of the 
invasion and occupation of Iraq.  We believe this constitutes a “fair use” of any such copyrighted material as provided for 
in section 107 of the US Copyright Law since it is being distributed without charge or profit for educational purposes to 
those who have expressed a prior interest in receiving the included information for educational purposes, in accordance 
with Title 17 U.S.C. Section 107.  GI Special has no affiliation whatsoever with the originator of these articles nor
GI Special endorsed or sponsored by the originators.  This attributed work is provided a non-profit basis to 
facilitate understanding, research, education, and the advancement of human rights and social justice.  Go to: 

ww.law.cornell.edu/uscode/17/107.shtml for more information.  If you wish to use copyrighted material 

 is 

from this site for 
rposes of your own that go beyond ‘fair use’, you must obtain permission from the copyright owner.   
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If printed out, this newsletter is your personal property and cannot legally
confiscated from you.  “Possession of unauthorized

 be 
 material may not be 

rohibited.”  DoD Directive 1325.6 Section 3.5.1.2.  
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